IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DAVID KALAC,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITSAP COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

Wanting to fight another inmate one-on-one, David Kalac escaped his jail cell, entered the jail cell of the other inmate, and assaulted the inmate. About two minutes after he entered the cell, officers at the jail responded and ordered the inmates to stop fighting. Mr. Kalac immediately complied. For this brief, simple assault, the State sought to convict Mr. Kalac of attempted murder, first degree burglary, and unlawful imprisonment. Rather than convict Mr. Kalac of attempted murder, the jury convicted him of the lesser offense of attempted fourth degree assault. Otherwise the jury convicted Mr. Kalac as charged.

Despite being sentenced on all three counts, the court later ordered that the charge of attempted murder be dismissed without prejudice.

Because a jail inmate cannot burglarize another inmate's cell and Mr. Kalac's simple assault of the other inmate did not constitute a substantial interference with that inmate's liberty of movement, the convictions for burglary and unlawful imprisonment should be reversed for insufficient evidence. Additionally, this Court should reverse the order dismissing the charge of attempted murder without prejudice. That charge was resolved when the jury convicted Mr. Kalac of a lesser offense and, so long as that conviction stands, double jeopardy prohibits retrial on the greater offense.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. In violation of the due process clauses of the Fourteenth
 Amendment to the United States Constitution and article one, section three
 of the Washington Constitution, the conviction for first degree burglary is
 not supported by sufficient evidence.
- 2. In violation of the due process clauses of the Fourteenth
 Amendment to the United States Constitution and article one, section three
 of the Washington Constitution, the conviction for unlawful imprisonment
 is not supported by sufficient evidence.
- 3. In violation of the prohibition against double jeopardy under the Fifth Amendment and article one, section nine of the Washington Constitution, the trial court improperly dismissed the charge of attempted murder without prejudice.
- 4. In violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States

 Constitution and article one, section twenty-two of the Washington

 Constitution, Mr. Kalac was deprived of his right to effective assistance of counsel.

C. ISSUES

1. Burglary requires proof that the defendant entered or remained unlawfully in a "building." In a multi-unit structure, such as an apartment building, each tenant has a separate privacy interest. Accordingly, each

unit is considered its own "building." Inmates in jail, however, have no legitimate privacy interest in their jail cells. Hence, jail cells do not constitute "buildings" separate from the jail itself. Mr. Kalac, an inmate at the jail, entered the cell of another inmate. Should the burglary conviction premised on this entry be reversed because a jail cell is not a "building" separate from the jail itself?

- 2. Burglary requires proof that the entering or remaining was unlawful. Mr. Kalac was a jail inmate. While the State presented evidence establishing that Mr. Kalac was not supposed to have been out of his cell, the State did not present evidence proving that it was unlawful for him to enter or remain in other jail cells. Did the State fail to prove the "unlawful" presence element beyond a reasonable doubt?
- 3. Unlawful imprisonment requires proof of restraint, meaning that the defendant substantially interfered with the victim's liberty of movement. "Substantial" means "considerable." Over the course of about two minutes, Mr. Kalac assaulted another inmate by kicking him and briefly placing him a headlock. Did the State fail to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that this brief, simple assault constituted a substantial, i.e., considerable, interference with the inmate's liberty of movement?
- 4. When a defendant is convicted of a lesser included offense, the prohibition against double jeopardy forbids retrial on the greater offense.

Mr. Kalac was convicted of attempted fourth degree assault, a lesser included offense of attempted first degree murder. Despite being sentenced on this conviction, the court dismissed, without prejudice, the charge of attempted murder. Did the trial court err when there was no charge left to dismiss and reprosecution would violate the prohibition against double jeopardy?

5. The trial court determined that Mr. Kalac did not have the present or future ability to pay legal financial obligations. This Court has discretion to not allow appellate costs even if the State is the substantially prevailing party. Should this Court exercise this discretion to not allow costs when the trial court ruled that Mr. Kalac lacks the ability to pay legal financial obligations?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In December 2014, David Kalac was an inmate at the Kitsap County Jail in Port Orchard. RP 591-92. He was confined to "Unit B." RP 891. This unit, like the other units in the jail, has 26 cells. RP 562. Unit B has 13 cells on two floors. RP 563. Each cell houses two inmates. RP 562. There are windows on the doors of the cells. RP 648-49. When a cell door is shut, it locks automatically. RP 659. Each cell has a speaker which can be used to communicate with an officer. RP 568-69.

Unit B has a dayroom on the lower level, with tables, a television, and a door to the recreation yard. RP 562-63, 596. Inmates on the lower and upper levels are let out into the dayroom at different times. RP 593. Hence, an inmate confined on the upper level would not be in the dayroom at the same time as an inmate confined on the lower level, and vice versa. RP 592-93.

Mr. Kalac was confined to a cell on the lower level. RP 592.

Wayne Carlson, another inmate in Unit B, was confined to a cell on the upper level. RP 592. Mr. Carlson was aware that Mr. Kalac was in the jail. RP 591-92. Mr. Carlson claimed to have shared a place with Mr. Kalac about three years earlier for about a month or two. RP 591. He did not really get along with Mr. Kalac and had not seen him since. RP 591. Mr. Kalac did not recall living with Mr. Carlson. RP 895.

Sometime before December 9, 2014, Mr. Carlson and Mr. Kalac got into a loud, heated exchange. RP 882. Mr. Kalac was locked inside his cell while Mr. Carlson was outside the cell in the dayroom. RP 882. Mr. Kalac testified he was at the window of his cell when he saw Mr. Carlson flipping him off. RP 896. Mr. Kalac, who did not remember Mr. Carlson, called him over to inquire about Mr. Carlson's gesture. RP 897.

The two had a loud and unpleasant conversation.¹ RP 596-97, 628-29, 897-99. Mr. Kalac was not happy about what Mr. Carlson said. RP 899.

Mr. Kalac decided to settle their differences by fighting Mr.

Carlson. RP 898. Because the two were not out of their cells at the same time, Mr. Kalac concocted a plan to get out of his cell so he could fight Mr. Carlson one-on-one. RP 900-01.

On December 9, 2014, when Mr. Mr. Kalac returned to his cell, he placed a playing card in the locking mechanism of the door. RP 900. This made it so that the door appeared to be locked when closed, although it was not. RP 900. Mr. Kalac knew what cell Mr. Carlson was in because he could see the upper tier through the reflection on the dayroom wall. RP 900.

At about 3:30 p.m., the inmates from the upper tier were released out of their cells and allowed to be in the dayroom until 6:00 p.m. See RP 593. Mr. Carlson ate his dinner and returned to his cell, leaving the door cracked open. RP 605. Mr. Carlson's cellmate was in the dayroom. RP 605.

At about 4:58 p.m., Mr. Kalac left his cell and proceeded directly upstairs to Mr. Carlson's cell. RP 735, 917. Mr. Kalac knew that the

¹ So as to not unfairly prejudice Mr. Kalac, the substance of this conversation and the reason for Mr. Kalac being in jail was not permitted to be disclosed to the jury. RP 23, 29-30, 471. Mr. Kalac was in jail on a charge of murder. RP 23.

guards would not be in the unit because it was after dinner service. RP 913. Because he only wanted to fight, not kill, Mr. Carlson, Mr. Kalac did not stop to retrieve available cleaning tools, including a broom and a mop ringer, which could have been used as weapons. RP 903.

Mr. Kalac entered the cell, closing the door behind him. RP 904. He pulled Mr. Carlson off of the top bunk. RP 607, 904. While the two were wrestling around, Mr. Carlson hit his head on the sink. RP 610, 908. According to Mr. Carlson, Mr. Kalac said he was going to kill him. RP 609. Mr. Carlson was able to hit the emergency button many times and called for a guard. RP 609-10. While Mr. Carlson was on the ground, Mr. Kalac kicked him and told him to get up and fight. RP 608, 611, 906. When Mr. Carlson refused, Mr. Kalac picked him up off of the floor by the neck, and placed him in a headlock. RP 612, 909.

The officer in the control room notified other officers that the emergency button for cell B-16 had sounded and asked them to investigate because he thought it might be a fight. RP 570, 575-76. Three officers responded quickly and went to the cell, arriving at 5:00 p.m. RP 576, 645, 655-56, 735. The officer in the lead saw through the window of the door that Mr. Kalac had Mr. Carlson in a headlock. RP 647. Through the door, the lead officer told them to stop fighting and ordered Mr. Kalac to get onto the ground and place his hands behind his back. RP 652, 658, 678-

79. Mr. Kalac immediately complied. RP 652. The officer then unlocked the door and entered. RP 654. The officers placed Mr. Kalac in an interview room and escorted Mr. Carlson out of the unit. RP 655, 670.

Mr. Carlson had no problems breathing. RP 670. He suffered a laceration on his head. RP 788-89. A nurse who saw Mr. Carlson testified that no bandages or stiches were medically necessary. RP 789. Mr. Carlson's neck was visibly red. RP 792. Prior to law enforcement arriving to investigate, jail staff cleaned up the scene of the assault. RP 829-30, 867-69.

Rather than charge Mr. Kalac with simple assault, the State charged him with attempted murder in the first degree (Count I), first degree burglary (Count II), and unlawful imprisonment (Count III). CP 10-12. At trial, Mr. Kalac testified that he had only planned to fight, not kill, Mr. Carlson. RP 898, 910. In relation to the charge of attempted murder (Count I), Mr. Kalac obtained a lesser included offense instruction on attempted fourth degree assault. CP 92-94, 97, 107; RP 931, 986.

The jury convicted Mr. Kalac of first degree burglary and unlawful imprisonment. CP 110-11. The jury did not reach agreement on the charge of attempted murder and left the verdict form blank. CP 110. The jury, however, convicted Mr. Kalac of the lesser offense of attempted fourth degree assault. CP 110. Mr. Kalac was sentenced on all three

counts. CP 149. The State later obtained an order purporting to dismiss the charge of attempted murder in the first degree, described as "Count I," without prejudice. CP 172.

E. ARGUMENT

- 1. The evidence was insufficient to prove that Mr. Kalac committed the offense of burglary because he did not enter or remain "unlawfully" in a "building."
 - a. The State bears the burden to prove all the elements of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt.

The State bears the burden of proving all the elements of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. In reviewing whether the State has met this burden, the appellate court analyzes "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any rational trier of fact* could have found the essential elements of the crime *beyond a reasonable doubt*." <u>State v. Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980) (quoting <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979)).

b. An individual cell housing inmates within a jail is not a separate "building" from the jail itself.

Questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed *de novo*. State v. Conover, 183 Wn.2d 706, 355 P.3d 1093, 1096 (2015). The primary purpose is effectuate the intent of the lawmaker. <u>Id.</u> Intent is determined

from the statute's plain language, which considers the text, context of the statute, related provisions, amendments, and the whole statutory scheme.

Id. If more than one reasonable interpretation exists, the statute is ambiguous. Id. If so, then the rule of lenity applies and the language must be construed in the defendant's favor. Id.

First degree burglary requires proof that the defendant entered or remained "unlawfully" in a "building":

A person is guilty of burglary in the first degree if, with intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein, he or she enters or remains unlawfully in a building and if, in entering or while in the building or in immediate flight therefrom, the actor or another participant in the crime (a) is armed with a deadly weapon, or (b) assaults any person.

RCW 9A.52.020(1); accord CP 98 (jury instruction). Consistent with the law, under the "to-convict" instruction, the State was required to prove "that on or about December 9, 2014, the defendant entered or remained unlawfully in a building." CP 101.²

CP 102.

² The "to-convict" instruction required the State to prove:

⁽¹⁾ That on or about December 9, 2014, the defendant entered or remained unlawfully in a building;

⁽²⁾ That the entering or remaining was with intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein;

⁽³⁾ That in so entering or while in the building or in immediate flight from the building the defendant assaulted a person; and

⁽⁴⁾ That any of these acts occurred in the State of Washington.

Consistent with its statutory definition, the term "building" was defined for the jury to have its "ordinary meaning" and to include "any dwelling." RCW 9A.04.110(5); CP 99 (jury instruction). "Each unit of a building consisting of two or more units separately secured or occupied is a separate building." <u>Id.</u>

The foundational case construing this language is <u>State v.</u>

<u>Thomson</u>, 71 Wn. App. 634, 861 P.2d 492 (1993). There, a woman invited a man into her home. <u>Thomson</u>, 71 Wn. App. at 636. The woman rebuffed the man's sexual advances. <u>Id.</u> Still, the woman permitted the man to stay in a guest room. <u>Id.</u> Later that night, the man broke into the woman's room and raped her. <u>Id.</u> The man was convicted of first degree rape, which required proof that the defendant had feloniously entered into a "building." <u>Id.</u>

This Court held that the woman's bedroom was not a "building" separate from the house. <u>Id.</u> at 646. The Court reasoned that rooms in single family houses did not qualify as "buildings" because there is a single privacy interest in the entire house:

In the situation involving the house, each family member has a privacy interest in the entire house, and that interest is not different from the interests of other family members. Thus, it makes sense to characterize the burglarized rooms as parts of a single building. <u>Id.</u> at 645. The Court further reasoned that its construction was supported by the rule of lenity. <u>Id.</u>

The Court reasoned the outcome would be different for some multi-unit structures because the tenants would have a separate "privacy interest" from other tenants in their space:

In the situation involving the multi-unit structure, each tenant has a privacy interest in his or her room or apartment, and that interest is separate from the interests of other tenants. Thus, it makes sense to characterize the burglarized rooms as separate "buildings." The second part of RCW 9A.04.110(5) mandates the second approach, so it is not surprising that the Legislature intended it to apply to multi-unit buildings such as hotels, apartment houses and rooming houses, but not to dwellings wholly occupied by a single tenant.

<u>Id.</u> The Court concluded that "RCW 9A.04.110(5) should be construed as applying to multi-unit buildings in which two or more rooms are occupied or intended to be occupied by different tenants separately, but not to dwellings wholly occupied by a single tenant." Id. at 645-46.

Following <u>Thomson</u>, this Court held that an evidence locker within a police station was not a separate "building" because the police station was occupied by a single tenant and was not a building consisting of multiple separately secured units. <u>State v. Deitchler</u>, 75 Wn. App. 134, 137, 876 P.2d 970 (1994). Similarly, separate stalls and coin boxes at a car wash were not their own "buildings" because the car wash was

"occupied by a single tenant and was not a building consisting of two or more units separately secured or occupied." State v. Miller, 90 Wn. App. 720, 729, 954 P.2d 925 (1998). In contrast, a large storage locker inside the common area of an apartment complex, used by a tenant and secured with a lock, qualified as a "building" given the separate privacy interest.

State v. Miller, 91 Wn. App. 869, 870-73, 960 P.2d 464 (1998); see also State v. Schneider, 36 Wn. App. 237, 241, 673 P.2d 200 (1983) (noting that a landlord can be guilty of burglarizing a tenant's property because the question is occupancy or possession of premises, not simple ownership).

This case is unique in that it that the structure at issue is a jail, not a house or apartment complex. Jails are where the government forcibly holds people against their will. People detained within cells inside jails do not choose to reside there. They are not tenants. When they arrive, their possessions may be seized and inventoried. See State v. Cheatam, 150 Wn.2d 626, 642, 81 P.3d 830 (2003). They may be strip searched.

Florence v. Bd. of Chosen Freeholders of Cty. of Burlington, __ U.S. __, 132 S. Ct. 1510, 1515, 182 L. Ed. 2d 566 (2012) (detainees may be required to undergo a close visual inspection while undressed); State v.

Audley, 77 Wn. App. 897, 908, 894 P.2d 1359 (1995) (statute authorizing strip searches in particular contexts was constitutional). If they are held

on a "serious offense," the government may even seize their DNA without violating the Fourth Amendment. Maryland v. King, __ U.S. __, 133 S. Ct. 1958, 1980, 186 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2013). Their calls may be recorded. State v. Modica, 164 Wn.2d 83, 89, 186 P.3d 1062 (2008).

As for the jail cell itself, "[n]o situation imaginable is as alien to the notion of privacy than an arrestee sitting in a jail cell." Cheatam, 150 Wn.2d at 638 (quoting Oles v. State, 993 S.W.2d 103, 109 (Tex. Crim. App. 1999)). In short, inmates in a Washington jail lack any privacy interest in their cells. Hudson v. Palmer, 468 U.S. 517, 527, 104 S. Ct. 3194, 82 L. Ed. 2d 393 (1984); State v. Babcock, 168 Wn. App. 598, 605-06, 279 P.3d 890 (2012) (citing Hudson for proposition that inmate did not have a privacy interest in his cell). Certainly, an inmate has no right to preclude another person from entering or remaining in his or her cell. That right belongs entirely to the jail, not an inmate.

The record in this case shows that the privacy of inmates at the Kitsap County Jail was not any greater. Inmates are locked in their cells and inmates have no control over when the door to their cell is locked. RP 60-04. Calls from the jail are recorded. RP 770-76. Cameras are present. RP 563, 714. The dayroom can be viewed from the control room through a one-way mirror. RP 567, 893. Inmates, including Mr. Carlson and Mr. Kalac, have cellmates. See RP 562, 605, 879, 891. The cells have

speakers that can be used by the jailers to eavesdrop. RP 583, 598. As for the belongings inmates are permitted to keep in their cell, such as clothing, these belongings are required to be kept inside a clear bag so that guards can more easily search the cells. RP 887, 889-90.

Hence, the reasonable interpretation is that jails cells are not separate "buildings" within the meaning of the statute. But even if Mr. Kalac's interpretation of the statute is not the only reasonable interpretation, it is a reasonable one. Therefore, at the least, the statute is ambiguous, requiring application of the rule of lenity and adoption of Mr. Kalac's narrower interpretation. State v. Thomson, 71 Wn. App. at 645-46; Miller, 90 Wn. App. at 730.

In sum, a jail is not truly analogous to an apartment building or hotel. Inmates do not possess a privacy interest in the cells used to hold them. Given the unique circumstances of a jail, the lack of a privacy interest by the inmates in the cells used to hold them, and the rule of lenity, this Court should hold that a jail cell is not a separate "building" within the meaning of RCW 9A.04.110(5). "Application of the burglary statute to [the] defendant's conduct was clearly outside the purpose of the Legislature." Miller, 90 Wn. App. at 730. Accordingly, Mr. Kalac's conviction for burglary should be reversed and dismissed with prejudice.

Burks v. United States, 437 U.S. 1, 11, 98 S. Ct. 2141, 57 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1978).

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