NO. 47506-5-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DAVID MICHAEL KALAC,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON Superior Court No. 14-1-01246-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

TINA R. ROBINSON Prosecuting Attorney

JOHN L. CROSS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

SERVICE

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH THAT KALAC UNLAWFULLY ENTERED CARLSON'S CELL AND THAT THAT CELL IS WITHIN THE DEFINITION OF THE TERM "BUILDING" AS DEFINED IN THE BURGLARY STATUTE.

Kalac challenges his Burglary conviction arguing that evidence is insufficient to establish that Carlson's jail cell is a "building" that he entered unlawfully. This claim is without merit because the jail cell is within the definition of "building" and Kalac clearly unlawfully entered with intent to commit assault therein.

Kalac's claims implicate two standards of review. The sufficiency claim alleges that the state did not prove an essential element beyond a reasonable doubt.

Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom. We defer to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence.

State v. Cordero, 170 Wn.App. 351, 361, 284 P.3d 773 (2012) (internal citation omitted). Kalac also claims that statutory construction is necessary. Statutory construction is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. State v. Evans, 177 Wn.2d 186, 191, 298 P.3d 724 (2013). Such review is intended to "determine and give effect to the intent of the legislature." Id. That intent is to be found from the plain language of the statute with consideration to the text of the provision, the context in which the statute is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole. Id. at 192. "Plain language that is not ambiguous does not require construction." Id. Ambiguity is found if the statute is amenable to more than one reasonable interpretation. Id. at 192-93. Lenity requires that ambiguous criminal statutes be interpreted in favor of the defendant unless the legislature clearly intended a different result. Id.

The unambiguous burglary statute provides that

A person is guilty of burglary in the first degree if, with intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein, he or she enters or remains unlawfully in a building and if, in entering or while in the building or in immediate flight therefrom, the actor or another participant in the crime (a) is armed with a deadly weapon, or (b) assaults any person.

RCW 9A.52.020 (1). The term "building" is defined as

in addition to its ordinary meaning, includes any dwelling, fenced area, vehicle, railway car, cargo container, or any other structure used for lodging of persons or for carrying on business therein, or for the use, sale, or deposit of goods; each unit of a building consisting of two or more units separately secured or occupied is a separate building

RCW 9A.04.110 (5). Next, "Dwelling" means any building or structure, though movable or temporary, or a portion thereof, which is used or ordinarily used by a person for lodging." RCW 9A.04.110 (7). These provisions control the meaning "building" as applied in the present case.

Kalac also challenges the finding that he entered unlawfully. The term "enter," as used here, simply means "entrance of a person." RCW 9A.52.010 (4). And, "[a] person "enters or remains unlawfully" in or upon premises when he or she is not then licensed, invited, or otherwise privileged to so enter or remain." RCW 9A.52.010 (5). That provision also includes a lengthy explanation of these principles in application to open land and the like which explanation has no application in the present case. Id. Finally, ""[p]remises" includes any building, dwelling, structure used in commercial aquaculture, or any real property." RCW 9A.52.010 (6).

1. The jail cell falls within the definition of building.

Kalac argues that the cell does not meet the burglary statute definition because the jail is a single structure and because jail inmates have little or no privacy while incarcerated. He needs the second argument because the plain language of the statute is broad enough to include the cell. Moreover, no case holds that the having or not of a privacy interest in the structure is dispositive.

First, consideration of the plain language should be sufficient. RCW 9A.52.04.110 (5) is very broad by its terms, applying to fenced areas, vehicles, railway cars and cargo containers. More to the point for the present case, it applies to "any other structure used for the lodging of persons." Id.(emphasis added). This completely clear and plain phrase applies to a jail cell. The same is in fact a structure and is in fact used to lodge persons. See State v. Wentz. 149 Wn.2d 342, 349, 68 P.3d 282 (2003)(ordinary meaning of "structure" broad enough to include anything from a building to an apple box.). No interpretation is required to understand the phrase.

Moreover, the definition of "dwelling" both adds more clarity and provides temporal context. A jail cell is "used or ordinarily used by persons for lodging" whether a person wants to be lodged there or not. Further, the length of the stay is irrelevant because the definition applies to "temporary" use. A jail cell is a structure used to lodge persons on a temporary basis. A person may not want to be lodged in a jail or to be sleeping in her vehicle or a railway car. But the definition applies regardless of where the victim wants to be. The subjective desires of the victim are not relevant to the definitions. It applies to where she is when victimized.

In *State v. Thomson*, 71 Wn.App. 634, 861 P.3d 492 (1993), in interpreting the phrase "each unit of a building consisting of two or more units separately secured or occupied is a separate building" this Court held that this phrase applies to "multi-unit buildings in which two or more rooms are occupied or intended to be occupied *by different tenants separately*, but not to dwellings wholly occupied by a single tenant." Id.; at 646 (italics added). Supporting this holding is the notion that in the case of a single family house, each family member has a privacy interest in the entire house that is no different from any other family member; family members are not different tenants occupying the family home separately. Id. at 645. Lenity applies here so that a defendant who burglarizes a single home is not separately charged for each room from which he might steal. Id.

The same sentiment controlled in *State v. Deitchler*, 75 Wn.App. 134, 876 P.2d 970 (1994). There, a community service worker attempted to gain access to or remove items from an evidence locker in a police station. There, this Court explained the definition

RCW 9A.04.110 (5) has two parts, one preceding and one following the semicolon. The first deals with "buildings" not within a larger "building". The second deals with "buildings" within a larger building. According to the second, a structure or space within a larger building will be a "separate building" if the larger building has "two or more units separately secured or occupied", and the structure or space being considered is one of those "units". By negative implication, a structure or space within a larger building will not be a "separate building" unless the larger

building has "two or more units separately secured or occupied", and the structure or space being considered is one of those "units".

75 Wn.App. at 137. It was held that the evidence locker was not a separate unit because the police station had a single tenant (like the house in *Thompson*) and the evidence locker was not one of two or more units separately secured or occupied. Id. Notably, the *Deitchler* court took no pause to consider the police department's privacy interest in the evidence locker. Assuming that the police would have such an interest, focusing on privacy would likely change the result as *Deitchler* violated an area of privacy in reaching into the locker.

Again, in *State v. Miller*, 91 Wn.App. 869, 960 P.2d 464, this Court considered RCW 9A.04.110 (5) in the context of a burglary of an apartment building storage area. "The storage areas are door-fronted and padlocked units used by different tenants." Id. at 871. The court reviewed *Deitchler* and *Thomson*. The court found that *Thomson* held that the term "building" applied to a multi-unit building "where each unit is occupied by a different individual." Id. at 872. Thus, "each tenant has a privacy interest in his or her own room." Id. From *Deitchler*, the *Miller* court derived the rule that a "charge of burglary is ordinarily supported if the premises entered are large enough to accommodate a human being." Id. at 873. Accordingly, it was held that

Here, the testimony and photographs admitted at trial indicate that the storage locker Miller broke into was large enough to accommodate a human being, that is, to allow entry or occupation. Moreover, the padlocked, door-accessed unit was secured from other tenants, the manager or building owners of the apartment complex, indicating a separate privacy interest.

Id. So, unlawful entry of a storage area supports burglary if it is sufficiently separate and distinct from other such areas and thus constitutes one of multiple units. This even if a person does not in fact reside there; it is sufficient that a person could live there. The breath of the burglary statute's "building" definition is manifest. It may apply to nearly any distinct unit in which a person might stay no matter how fleeting the occupancy may be.

In *State v. Wentz*, 149 Wn.2d 342, 68 P.3d 282 (2003), Justice Madsen concurring explored the historical roots of the definition of "building" in the burglary statutes. There, the issue was whether Wentz's unlawful entry into a fenced backyard supported a burglary conviction. Id. at 346. That is, is the fenced area a "building" under RCW 9A.04.110? The majority found that it is by the plain language of the statute that includes the term "fenced area" and because factually the fence in question was solid, six-feet high, and had padlocked gates. Id. at 352. The court overruled previous cases that required that there be proof that the fence was erected for a purpose, like protecting property, that made it analogous to "building." Id.

Justice Madsen concurred in the result and reviewed the history of the burglary statutes. Id. at 353. Justice Madsen found the majority's holding too broad, allowing prosecution for stepping over an 18-inch fence and picking a flower. Id. at 358. Her historical review included that

The common law theory of protection of persons in their places of habitat from serious danger from criminals remains as part of our burglary statutes. Early in this state's history, the court observed in State v. Burton, 27 Wash. 528, 531, 67 P. 1097 (1902), that the crime of burglary is not one involving a disturbance of the fee as realty, but rather a disturbance to the "habitable security."

Id. at 356. Now,

The burglary statutes, of course, go well beyond common law burglary because they now prohibit and punish invasions involving intent to commit crimes against property. Thus, the burglary statutes are intended to proscribe and punish conduct involving the risk of harm or actual harm to property, as well as persons.

Id. at 356-57. Justice Madsen found that present laws "still retain the principle that protection of persons and property is the key to determining whether a fenced area is a "building." Id.

Justice Madsen's concurrence is congruent with foundational Washington law. In *State v. Klein*, 195 Wash. 338, 80 P.2d 825 (1938), the Supreme Court considered a challenge to a burglary conviction brought because the state had not alleged ownership or occupancy of the premises. Id at 341. The court said

'It is true that the state did not attempt to prove who had the legal title to the building, and this was unnecessary, for occupancy is the element which must be alleged and proved, and the testimony in this case shows that the house was occupied at the time of the entry by a person who bore the name of 'Frank,' and was being used by him at that time as a place to live in. Possession is enough as against burglars, and this is true even though the possession may be wrongful.

State v. Klein, 195 Wash. 338, 341, 80 P.2d 825, 827 (1938). Thus, "ownership means any possession which is rightful as against the burglar." Id.

In the present case, Carlson's occupancy of his jail cell, his possession of that space, was rightful as against the unlawful entry of the burglar, Kalac. The cell was in fact being used by Carlson "as a place to live in." For Carlson, his cell was his habitat where he should receive protection from serious danger from criminals. Carlson lived, whether he wanted to or not, in a defined space that was separately secured and occupied, a unit separate and distinct from the other units in the jail where others inmates maintained units separate and distinct from Carlson's unit. Further, the cell was in fact used and intended to be used to lodge persons.

Finally, it is clear that a diminished expectation of privacy, like in a jail, should not control. The burglary statute's protection of persons and property would diminish if each case required a subjective inquiry into the privacy expectations of the victim. In the cases, privacy is viewed objectively as a means to determine the status of a particular place. No

burglary prosecution should be vetoed merely because a victim may concede that she did not feel all that private in some temporary abode or another. And, finally, inmates in jail cells do not surrender all as even incarcerated individuals, under the 14th Amendment to the United State Constitution, retain "freedom from unjustified intrusions on personal security." *Davidson v. Cannon*, 474 U.S 344, 352-53, 106 S.Ct. 668, 88L.Ed.2d 677 (1986). "In particular, it includes a prisoner's right to safe conditions and the security from attack by other inmates." Id., *citing*, *Youngberg v. Romeo*, 457 U.S. 301, 315-16, 102 S.Ct. 2452, 73 L.Ed.2d 28 (1982).

At every turn, the statutes and the cases discussing them indicate a very broad reading of the term "building." The definitions are clearly broad enough to enclose a jail cell within the protections we all share from burglarious behavior. Kalac entered Carlson's house with intent to assault him.

2. Kakac's entry into Carlson's cell was unlawful.

Even though Carlson's cell constitutes a building in this prosecution, Kalac claims that he did not enter Carlson's house unlawfully. Brief at 16. He argues that the state must prove jail regulations that forbid entry into the cells of others. Brief at 17. He concedes that testimony established that he "was not supposed to be in Mr.

Carlson's cell." Brief at 17. But he claims that that evidence meant only that Kalac was not supposed to be out of his own cell. Id.

First, it is true that there was no particular testimony as to specific jail regulations in the record. The witnesses spoke of their understanding of jail rules. It was established that there are rules concerning where a person can and cannot go in the jail. RP (3/23) 593. On the question of whether lower tier inmates (Kalac) are allowed to go to the upper tier (Carlson), the answer was "you're not allowed to go up there. There is a red line you cannot cross." RP 593-94. In Kalac's own testimony he was asked "And you know that you're not supposed to go in someone else's cell, correct?" RP 913 Kalac responded "correct." Id. He was asked if he was invited and responded "no." Id. He was asked "should you have been in his cell?" RP 917. Kalac responded "no." Id.

As noted above, "A person "enters or remains unlawfully" in or upon premises when he or she is not then licensed, invited, or otherwise privileged to so enter or remain." RCW 9A.52.010 (5). Kalac makes no argument that he was in fact licensed, invited, or privileged to enter Carlson's cell. As indicated, the testimony on this point established that he knew he was not so licensed, invited or privileged. Kalac was on notice that none of these reasons for lawful entry obtained. *See State v. Kutch*, 90 Wn.App. 244, 951 P.2d 1139 (1998). In *Kutch*, a shoplifter was

excluded from a mall by mall security officers because of his shoplifting. Id. at 246. This exclusion supported a burglary conviction when Kutch subsequently entered the mall and again shoplifted. Kutch claimed, *inter alia*, similar to Kalac, that there no evidence that mall owners or agents underwrote the exclusion and that he had not received a copy of the written exclusion order. Id. at 248. Nonetheless, Kutch had been presented with and signed the exclusion—he knew it existed and no authority found required that he be given a copy of it. Id. The court held that he had sufficient notice of the revocation of privilege to enter. Id. at 248-49.

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